INTRODUCTION 

Petitioner, the plaintiff below, appeals from the Circuit Court of Cabell County, West 

Virginia's Order denying Plaintiffs Motion for New Trial and Renewed Motion for Judgment 

Notwithstanding the Verdict. lA. 1-15.The Petitioner filed these motions following a jury verdict 

in favor of the Respondents, and defendants below, Carolyn Clark M.D. ("Dr. Clark") and Cabell 

Huntington Hospital, Inc. ("CHH") in a wrongful death case brought all behalf of the Estate of 

Aspen Smith, who suffered perinatal asphyxiation when the Respondents failed to timely deliver 

her in the face of an obstetrical emergency. The jury's verdict was against the clear weight orthe 

evidence and resulted in a miscarriage of justice insofar as the cause of Aspen Smith's death was 

undisputed; Dr. Clark's expert testified that the 18-minute Leung criteria applied by 5:41 p.m. and 

had Dr. Clark delivered Aspen Smith by 5:59 she would have lived; Dr. Clark and her cxpcI1 

witness agreed that it was a deviation from the standard of care to apply forceps to an incomplete 

cervix~ the medical records proved that Chasity Smith remained incomplete at all times; and the 

labor and delivery nurses admitted they did not follow the hospital's Chain of Command policy 

under triggering circumstances. The evidence adduced at trial constituted a clear case of medical 

negligence on the face of the medical record . But cCI1ain errors circumvented the evidentiary 

process and forced a verdict against the manifest weight of the evidence. Accordingly, this Court 

should reverse and enter judgment in favor of the Petitioner, or alternatively, order a new trial. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY GIVING A "MULTIPLE METHODS" 
INSTRUCTION WIIERE THE ONLY LIABILITY ISSUE FOR DETERMINATION 
INVOLVED THE TIMING OF ASPEN SMlTH'S DELIVERY. 

2. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO EXCLUDE THE TESTIMONY OF 
THE RESPONDENTS' EXPERT PLACENTAL PATHOLOGIST, CAROLYN 
SALAFIA, M.D., WHERE DR. SALAFIA FAILED TO OFFER ANY CAUSAL NEXUS 



BETWEEN HER INTERPRETATION OF THE PLACENTAL PATHOLOGY 
FINDINGS AND THE TIMING OF ASPEN SMITH'S DELfVERY. 

3. TI-fE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY STRIKING PETITIONER'S NURSING EXPERT, 
PATIUCIA SPIER, R.N. 

4. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO GIVE THE EGGSHELL PLAINTIFf 
INSTRUCTION WHERE THE RESPONDENTS WERE PERMlTrED, OVER 
PETITIONER'S OBJECTIONS, TO INTRODUCE EVIDENCE THAT CHASITY 
SMITH HAD CERTAlN GENETIC MARKERS THAT PREDISPOSED I-fER TO A 
BLOOD CLOTrING DISORDER AND EXPERT TESTIMONY THAT CHASITY 
SMITH'S PLACENTA CONTATNED BIOMARKERS THAT TIlE EXPERT 
TNTERPRETED AS SUGGESTIVE OF PRE-TERM BLEEDTNG AND A DECREASED 
RESERVE THAT PREVENTED ASPEN SMITH fROM SURVIVING AN ACUTE 
PLACENTAL ABRUPTION. 

5. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY PRECLUDTNG CROSS EXAMTNA nON OF DR. 
CLARK, WITH HER PIUOR TESTIMONY REGARDTNG THE STANDARDS SET 
FORTII BY TIlE AMEIUCAN COLLEGE OF OIlSTETIUCS AND GYNECOLOGY 
("ACOG") WHEN SIlE VOUCHED FOR THE AUTHOIUTY OF HIE ACOG 
STANDARDS TN TI-IE TNSTANT MATrER BUT HAD PREVIOUSLY DENIED 
nIEM TN A PIUOR CASE. 

6. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY PRECLUDTNG THE TESTlMONY OF DR. 
BRUCE RATCLIFF, CHAlR OF THE OBSTETRICS AND GYNECOLOGY 
DEPARTMENT AT CABELL HUNTTNGTON HOSPITAL, THAT DR. CLARK 
DEVIATED FROM THE STANDARD OF CARE TN HER DELIVERY OF ASPEN 
SMITII WHERE THE TRIAL COURT PERMlTl'ED BOTH DR. CLARK AND DR. 
CLARK'S RETATNED EXPERT WITNESS TO OPTNE THAT DR. CLARK MET HIE 
STANDARD OF CARE. 

7. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY PERMITrING UNDISCLOSED OPINIONS 
FROM DR. CLARK'S EXPERT, FRANK MANNTNG, M.D., ABOUT ACOG'S "30-
MINUTE RULE". 

8. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY FAlLING TO STRIKE, FOR CAUSE, JUROR NO. 
82, WHO ADMITrED nIAT DR. CLARK'S DAUGHTER WAS A FOUR-YEAR 
EMPLOYEE AT THE JUROR'S DRY-CLEANING BUSTNESS AND TI!AT CABELL 
HUNTTNGTON HOSP ITAL'S LAWYERS, WHOM SHE KNEW, WERE LONG
STANDING CLIENTS OF nIE JUROR'S DR Y-CLEANING BUSINESS. 

9. TI-IE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE CLEAR WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE, 
MANDATING A NEW TIUAL. 

2 



STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This matter involves the Petitioner' s allegations of medical negligence and reckless 

disregard for the well~bcing of Aspen Smith fo r the Respondents' failure to timely deliver Aspen 

Smith, which caused her death from acute, perinatal asphyxia, severe metabolic acidosis and 

hypoxic-ischemic encephalopathy. 

The Respondents induced Mrs. Smith to deliver Aspen on June 23, 2014. Her labor was 

ullIcmarkable, and Aspen Smith's fetal heart rate tracing remained reassuring, in the normal range, 

all day until 5: 17 p.m. , when Dr. Clark inserted an intrauterine pressure catheter ("nJPC") into 

Chasity Smith to check contraction strength. lA. 5919-5921 , 6470. Wben inserted, the IUPC 

returned blood - a real-time indicator to Dr. Clark that Chasity Smith was experiencing a 

potentially life-threatening placental abruption. J.A. 6481-6482, 6486-6487,6803 , 6894-6895. But 

instead of further investigating whether she had an emergency on her hands, Dr. Clark simply left 

the room, telling obstetrical nurse Erin Johnson to flush the catheter without waiting, even a few 

seconds, to see if the catheter returned blood again once it had been flushed , which it did. J.A. 

5058,5922-5923, 5935-5936, 6855-6856. This incident marked the first time during Mrs. Smith's 

entire labor that any bleeding was noted in the records. lA. 5923-5924, 5934-5935. 

At 5:20 p.m., Aspen's fetal heart rate tracing was lost. J.A. 5024-5025 , 5058, 6897-6898. 

For the next seven (7) minutes, Nurse Johnson tried to get a reading on the monitor. When she 

fmally did, at 5:27 p.m. , Aspen's heart rate had been cut in half, to 70 beats per minute, and into 

emergency territory. 1.A.5025, 6480. Nurse Johnson paged Dr. Clark. J.A. 5058. At that point 

Mrs. Smith was "remote", making vaginal del ivery impossible. 1.A. 5953-5957 (remote from 

delivery means "that the baby is not ready to come OUL"). Her cervix was only dilated six (6) 

centimeters, when it needed to be ten (10), and Aspen remained too far up the birth canal to be 
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vaginally removed. l.A. 5058, 6515~6517 ("if [Dr. Clark] put those forceps on with the cervix not 

fully dilated, that's not acceptable"). 

Dr: Clark finally returned to Mrs. Smith's room at 5:33 p.m., sixteen (16) minutes after 

first suspecting a placental abruption, and had Mrs. Smith start pushjng. lA. 5059. But Mrs. Sm ith 

remained remote from delivery - still dilated only to seven (7) centimeters at best. lA. 5059.5953· 

5957, 5975, 6952·6953. During this time Aspen Smith's heart rate halved again, to 35 beats per 

minute. J.A. 5025. Respondent' s nursing expert, Bonnie fl ood, testilied that Aspen was 

experiencing bradycardia' at this point. an obstetrical emergency that starts the clock on a baby's 

survival. Erin Johnson asked Dr. Clark if they were going to the operating room for a cesarean 

section. Dr. Clark did not answcr. J.A.595 I 1·5953, 5957, 5975· 5982; 5984·5986, 6014, 6339· 

6340,6863·6864. 

Instead, at 5:37 p.m., Dr. Clark started a forceps dclivery. J.A. 5059. But Mrs. Smith 

remained incomplete. lA. 5059. All the experts, including Dr. Clark, testified at trial that it is a 

deviation from the standard of care to apply forceps to an incomplete (i.e. > I 0 em) cervix. l .A. 

1185·1187, 1521 · 1522, 1480·1481. Dr. Clark did it anyway. 

At 5:39 p.m., Nurse Joimson noted the presence of blood-tinged amniotic fluid when 

Chasity pushed. l.A. 5946. She called for the operating room to set up for a C-section. l.A. 5059. 

She paged nurse anesthetist Beth Anderson to the room to dose Mrs. Smith's epidural for a C-

Section. lA. 5058. Nurse Johnson again asked Dr. Clark about going to the operating room. I .A 

5957. Dut Dr. Clark would not order a C-Section. l ,A. 5975-5982. Instead, she broke down 

Cbasity 's bed and puts her in stirrups, again making Cbasity push, even though Chasity was still 

only seven (7) centimeters dilated. lA. 5059. 

I Bradycardia in a neonate is heart rate less than 100 bpm. The primary cause of neonatal bradycardia is hypoxia which 
can lead 10 mctabolic acidosis and death if the baby is nOI timely delivered. 
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By 5:43 p.m., other nurses are in the room, including Beth Anderson and nurse Bonita 

Spurlock. l .A. 6331. They too are asking Dr. Clark, "are we going to the OR?" .I .A. 6314-63 16, 

6331-6332. Dr. Clark did not respond to them either. I .A. 1009-1 ° 1 0, 1533-1534. From 5:44 to 

5:54, Dr. Clark continued to try to deli ver Aspen Smith with forceps, wasting minute after minute, 

when she knew Aspen was being severely compromised. I.A. 6323, 6331-6337, 6959. At 5:54 

p.m. Dr. Clark fina ll y called ror a C-section. J.A. 5060. Aspen was delivered at 6:04 p.m., severely 

asphyxiated and in need of emergency resuscitation. 1.A. 4888, 5114. 

Dr. Clark testified that when she first saw the blood at 5: 17 p.m., she believed Mrs. Smith 

was having a placental abruption. l.A. 1151-1152, 1157,1473, 1564-1565. But, tragically, Dr. 

Clark wasted thirty-seven (37) minutes on a substandard, arcane forceps delivery. The medical 

records unequivocally document that Chasity Sm ith's cervix never dilated to the ten centimeters 

necessary to penn it forceps delivery under the standard of care. J.A. 4888, 5263-5264 (Dr. Clark 

records Mrs. Smith's di lation at 7:54 p.m., after Aspen's birth as only 8 cm) . CHH Obstetrics 

Chief Dr. Bruce Ratcliff officially investigated the incident for the hospi tal and concluded, and 

testi fied, that Dr. Clark deviated from the standard of care in failing to timely deliver Aspen Smith. 

1.A. 6297-6298. Dr. Ratcliff also testified that the OB nurses should have instituted the Chain of 

Command under Cabell Huntington's protocols. J.A. 6299-63000. But the trial court excluded his 

testimony. 

The evidence so overwhelmingly favored the Petitioner at trial as to warrant a directed 

vcrdjct. Instead, and as a direct consequence of multiple, compounding, critical errors committed 

by the trial court, the jury was boxed into a decision for the Respondents, while the Petitioner was 

stripped of the opportunity for justice he, Aspen's molber, and their family rightfully deserved. 

lndeed, the jury returned a verdict for the Respondents following an eight-day trial. The cow1 
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entered its Final Judgement Order on June 6, 2017. J.A. 5294-5305. On June 16, 2017 the 

Petitioner timely renewed his Motion for judgment notwitllstanding the verdict under W.Va. R. 

Civ. P. 50 and moved for a new trial under W.Va. R. Civ. P. 59. J.A. 5307~5329 . Petitioner's 

Motions were denied on November 12, 2017 by Order of the trial court, from which this appeal is 

taken (the "Order"). J.A. 1-12. 

SUMMARY OF AHGUMENT 

The trial court corrunittcd a series of unforced errors that reframed the case in such a way as 

to make it virtually impossible for the Petitioner to prevail despite the incontrovertible evidence of 

the Respondents' deviations from the standard of care. Arguably the most egregious cfthese was the 

giving of the "multiple methods" instruction. Not only was such an instnlction completely out of 

place in the context of the evidence presented in the case, but the Respondents did not even attempt 

to lay the requisite foundation for the giving of such an instruction under Yates v. v. University oj 

West Virginia Boord o/Trustees, 209 W.Va. 487, 549 S.E.2d 681 (2001). Following closely was 

the triaJ court's erroneous admission of whoUy irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence of certain 

pre~existing, but irrelevant, conditions compounded by the court's refusal to give the "eggshell 

plaintiff'instruction. 

These abuses of discretion were preceded by other, critical enars that served only to mislead 

the jury and conceal the whole truth ofthe case. These i.ncluded the court' s preclusion of Dr. Ratclifrs 

malpractice opinions, the striking of Petitioners' nursing expert, the court's refusal to allow cross· 

examination of Dr. Clark with her prior, contradictory statements about the propriety of certain 

guidelines she invoked in this case to exonerate herself, and the court's allowing Dr. Clark's expert 

to offer brand new opinions for the Grst time at trial on the critical issue in the casco Anyone of these 

errors is sufficient to warrant remand but, taken as a whole, they should leave this Court with no doubt 
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that the jury was pigeonholed into rendering a verd ict that was plainly against, and wholly inconsistent 

with, the manifest weight of the ev idence presented at trial. For the reasons more fully set forth herein, 

reversal is warranted or, at a minirruun, remand for a new triaL 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Rule 19 argument is necessary to expound upon and fully articulate the nature, 

interconnectedness and consequences of the myriad, compounding errors the trial court committed 

in the application of settled law on jury instructions and evidenliary matters. Respectful ly, given 

the gravity of the circumstances at issue, concerning the strength of Petitioner's evidence and the 

way it was circumvented through error, a memorandum decis ion would be an insufficient means 

of address. 

STANDARD OF REVIE W 

The mattcr involves a mutli-pronged, deferential standard of review. See Syl. Pt. 3, Slate 

v. Vance , 207 W.Va. 640, 535 S.E.2d 484 (2000); see also Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., 

194 W.Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995). Rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its 

conclusion as to the existence of reversible error are reviewed under an abusc of discretion 

standard.ld. The circuit court's underlying factual findings are reviewed under a clearly erroneous 

standard.id. Questions of law are subject to a de novo review. Id. Denial of a motion for judgment 

notwithstanding the verdict and fo r a new trial is also de novo and warrants reversal where the 

evidence, viewed in ihe light most favorab le to the nOlIDlOving party, is legally insufficient to 

sustain the verdict. See Barefoot v. Sundale NurSing Home, 193 W. Va. 475,482, 457 S.E.2d 152, 

159 (1995); Syi. Pt. 1, Alkire v. First National Bank oj Parsons, 197 W.Va. 122,475 S.E.2d 122 

(1996). Objection to a j ury instruction challenging a trial court's statement of the legal standard is 

de novo as wel l. General Pipeline Construction, inc. v. Hairston , 234 W.Va. 274, 283, 765 S.E.2d 
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163, 172 (2014) (citing State v. Guthrie, 194 W.Va. 657, 671, 461 S.E.2d 163, 177 (1995)). The 

trial court's rul ing wi ll be reversed on appeal when it is clear that the tria l court has acted under 

some misapprehension of the law or the ev idence.2 

ARGUMENT 

1. TIlE COURT ERRED BY GIVING A "MULTn'LE METllODS" INSTRUCTION 
WHERE THE ONLY LIABILITY ISSUE FOR DETERMINATION INVOLVED 
THE TIMING OF ASPEN SMITH'S DELIVERY.' 

T he trial courl acted under a misapprehension of the law in g iving the multiple methods 

instruction. "It is reversible error to give an instruction which is misleading and misstates the law 

applicable to the facts." {d. (citing Syl. Pt. 4, State v. Travis, 139 W. Va. 363, 81 S.E.2d 678 (1954)) . 

A "jury instruction is erroneous if it has a reasooable potential to mislead the jury as to the correct 

legal principle or does not adequately in form the j ury 011 the law." ld. An instruction given in error 

"is presumed to be prejudicial and warrants a new trial unless it appears that the complaining party 

was not prejudiced by such instruction." Yates, supra (citing Syl. Pt. 2, Hollen v. Linger, 151 

W.Va. 255, 151 S.E.2d 330 (1966)); see alsa State v. Miller, 197 W.Va. 588, 607, 476 S.E.2d 535, 

554 (1996). Prejudice occurs to a party when hi s substanti al rights are affected or when "there is a 

reasonable p robability that the j ury's verdict was affected or influenced" by the im proper 

instruction. Tennant, at 111 ,388. That is precisely the situation here, where the giving of the 

instruction effectively erased the evidence of Dr. Clark's substandard care. 

The issue for j ury decision had noLhing to do with the Respondents' choice of delivery 

"methods". Instead, the case centered entirely on the liming of delivery. Dr. Clark adm itted she 

Z See Sy!. pt. 4, Sanders v. Georgia-Pacific Corp., 159 W.Va. 621, 225 S.E.2d 218 ( 1976). Sy!. PL I, Andrews v. 
Reynolds Memorial Hospital. IIIC., 201 W. Va. 624, 499 S.E.2d 846 (1997); Syt. Pt. I, Lively v. Rufus, 207 W.Va. 436, 
533 S.E.2d 662 (2000). 

) For reference 10 Ihat portion or the record where this the assignment of error was prcserycd, please see 1.A . 7000, 
7003. 
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suspected abruption at 5: 17 p.m. lA. 6894-6895. The Respondents and their experts all agreed 

that Aspen's heart rate deteriorated from a reassuring, Category T tracing, to an emergency, 

Category III tracing after the catheter insertion and that Aspen had fetal bradycardia as carly as 

5:35 p.m. JA 6439-6440, 6975-6977. [t was und isputed that the standard of care required Dr. 

Clark to timely deliver Aspen Smith under the circumstances. Dr. Clark's liabi lity expert, Dr. 

Frank Manning, testified that the I8-minute, Lcung delivery time4 criteria applied to Aspen's 

circumstances and that had Dr. Clark delivered Aspen Smith even as late as 5:59 p.m., Aspen 

would have lived. J.A. 6472-6473, 6512-65 13, 6534-6535. 

The multiple methods instruction simply docs not fit with the facts of this case. The 

instruction does not apply in every case wherein the allegations are that a doctor should have done 

something differently. If it did, it would be applicable to every case.5 In this case, the multiple 

methods instruction completely buried the question actually before the jury, which was the 

reasonableness of continuing to altempt vaginal delivery, after repeated/ailures, under emergency 

circumstances while Aspen Smith asphyxiated. Letting the jury decide in favor of the Respondent 

on the grounds that vaginal deliveries are, in general. allowed. made tbe Petitioner's job essentially 

impossible. 

Moreover, there are specific requirements lfl the case law before a multiple methods 

instruction can be given, and the Respondents did not meet them. As the Yates Court held: 

~ The Leung, timing criteria comes from a study by Dr. Anna Leung fmding that babies delivered within eighteen (18) 
minutes of a fetal bradycardia survive without incident. 

5 bJ fact, if the "multiple methods" instruction can be used in every case where the doctor makes any choice, then it is 
really just the old "mistake of judgment" instruction under another guise. West Virginia law is clear that such an 
instruction constitutes reversible error. See e.g., Yates, at 497A98, 691-692; see also Syl. PI. 5, Pleasants v. Alliance 
Corporation, 209 W.Va. 39, 543 S.E.2d 320 (2000) (overruling Dye v. Corbin, 59 W.Va. 266, 53 S.E. 147 (1906), 
and its progeny, insofar as those cases approve the giving of a "mistake of judgment" instruction); Mays v. Chang, 
2t3 W.Va. 220, 579 S.E.2d 561 (2003) (trial court's giving of the mistake of judgment instruction constituted 
reversible error and reversal of verdict for doctor that he did not deviate from the standard of care); /-licks v. Gaphrey, 
212 W.Va. 327, 571 S.E2d 317 (2002). 
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our review of the record shows that the defendant's evidence on this issue was 
insufficient to support a multiple methods of treatment instruction, in that Dr. 
Bergan opined thaI Drs. OIey and Raman did not deviate from the applicable 
standards of care in their treatment of Ms. Yates but presented no extrins ic evidence 
in support of this test imony_ Therefore, the defendant did not meet its burden of 
proof. 

Yates, 209 w. Va. 487, 496,549 S.E.2d 681 , 690. The Yates case, supra, specifically disapproved 

of the multiple methods inslrUction, where, as here, the Respondent used a so li tary retained expert 

to state that in hi s or her own judgment, the Respondents' course was proper.6 The Yales case 

requires extrinsic evidence to support the expert's opinion and the Respondent in this case 

produced none. 7

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