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

The entire proposed instruction states: 

(a) Aggravation of Preexisting Injury 

If [name of plaintiffJ had a physical or emotional condition that 
was aggravated or made worse by [name of defendall/]'s wrongful 
conduct, you may award damages that will reasonably and fairly 
compensate [him/her] for the aggravation or worsening of the 
preexisting condition. 

(b) Plaintiff was susceptible to injury. 

If you find [name of plaintiJjJ was more susceptible to injury than a 
normal person, you may still award damages to [name ofplailllifjJ 

3 Petitioner's Brief also asserts error upon the trial court's decision to strike Petitioner's nursing 

expert, Patrician Spier, R.N. Respondent herein disputes that assignment of error; however, the 

assignment is necessarily directed solely at Co-Defendant, Cabell Huntington Hospi tal, because Nurse 

Spier was neither qualified nor disclosed 10 be a standard of care expert against Dr. Clark. Therefore, in 

furtherance of judicial economy and page limjtation requirements, this assignment is not addressed in 

detail herein. 
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for the injuries caused by [name of defendant1 even if a nonnal 
healthy person would not have suffered similar injury. 

See W. Va. PJ.1. § 802. Plaintiff's Prior Condilion. 

The instruction arises from a case involving automobile negligence entitled Kingdon v. 

Stanley, 158 W. Va. 835, 215 S.E.2d 462 (1975). In Kingdon, the plaintiff was injured a rear-

end collision. Medical experts testified that plaintiff suffered from a prior degenerat ive condition 

which was aggravated by the automobile accident. Id. at 837. This degenerative condition nol 

onl y preceded the allegations of negligence but was found to be symptomatic prior to the 

automobile accident. Id. Therefore, the entire Prior Condition instruction was appropriately 

given in that case. Kingdon, however, has no application to the case at bar. 

In healthcare, physicians frequently care for patient with deve loping health condi tions -

as opposed to preexisting conditions - such as emerging heart attacks or strokes. Often, the 

extent of these developing medical conditions is unlalOwn at the time of treatment. Such medical 

conditions are sometimes irreversible and the patient is left with lasting injury or succumbs to the 

disease. These pat ients, however, cannot then tile sui t and claim to be 'eggshell plaintiffs' in 

order to avo id the clement of causation. Applying Petitioner's proposed instruction to the 

hypothetical: "if the jury finds that a stroke patient was more susceptible to injury than a nonna l 

person, you may still award damages to the stroke patient for the injuries caused by the 

[Respondents] even if a nonnal healthy person would not have suffered similar injury." This is 

illogical. If the patient was truly nonnal and healthy, they would not have been sufferi ng from a 

stroke or a heart attack necessitating medical care in the first place. This instruction would have 

done nothing more than confuse the jury and inject misstatements of law into the case. 

The most comparable instruction from the Medical Negligence portion of the P.J.1. deals 

with "Loss of a Chance." This cause of action is defined by statute and states: 
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If the plaintiff proceeds on the "loss of chance" theory, i.e., that the 
health care provider's fai lure to follow the accepted standard of 
care deprived the patient of a chance of recovery or increased the 
ri sk of hann to the palient which was a substantial factor in 
bringing about the ultimate injury to the patient, the plaintiff must 
also prove, 10 a reasonable degree of medical probability, that 
fo llowing the accepted standard of care would have resu lted in a 
greater than twenty-five percent chance that the patient would have 
had an improved recovery or would have survived. 

See W. Va. Code 55-7B-3(b) (2003) (emphasis added). Loss of Chance, however, requires a 

plainliffto plead the same and prove the elements through expert testimony.ld. Petitioner herein 

never pled Loss of Chance nor submitted the requisite expert testimony to support such an 

instruction. Pet itioner cannot now shift the burden to Defendants to disprove Loss of Chance 

through the piecemealed use of an automobile accident instruction. 

The proposed instruction is not even the "eggshell plaintifP ' instruction. The eggshell 

plaintiffinstmclion at issue in Howe v. TllOmpsnn , 186 W. Va. 214, 4 12 S.E.2d 212 (1991) and 

SMa v. Chvasta, 180 W. Va. 510, 377 S.E.2d 644 (1988) simply states that a "defendant takes the 

plaintiff as he finds the plaintiff." See flowe, at 2 19, 217; Shia, at 5 II , n. 1,645, n.!. No proper 

comparison can be drawn between Petitioner's confusing instruction and the instructions at issue 

in Howe and SMa. 

Moreover, both Howe and SMa were decided before the 2003 amendments to the West 

Virginia Medical Professional Liability Act which specifically added " Loss of Chance." Further, 

both cases dealt with appeals from jury verdicts specifically addressing the element of causation. 

Again, the jury in this case never rcached a detennination as to causation as thi s was a defense 

verdict on standard of care. A ''judgment will not be reversed because of the admission of 

improper or irrelevant evidence, when il is clear that the verdict of the jury could not have been 
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affected." Syl Pt. 3, Graham v. Wallace, 214 w. Va. 178, 588 S.E.2d 167, citing Syl. Pt. 7, 

Starcher v. South Penn Oil Co., 81 W. Va. 587,95 S.E. 28 (1918). 

The fonnulation of jury instructions "is within the broad di scret ion of a circui t court, and 

a circuit court 's giving of an instruction is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard." Syl. 

PI. I, Gillingham, 209 W. Va. 741 (2001), citing Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, 

inc., 194 W. Va. 97,459 S.E.2d 374 (1995). A "verdiet should not be disturbed based on the 

fonnul ation of the language of tbe jury instructions so long as the instructions given as a whole 

are accurate and fa ir to both parties." Jd. Even if a requested instruction is a correct statement of 

the law, refusal to grant such instruction is not error when the jury was fully instructed on all 

principles that applied to the case and the refusal of the instruction in no way impedcd the 

offering side's closing argument or foreclosed the jury's passing on the offering side's basic 

theory of the case as developed through the evidence. Syl. PI . 2, Shin v. Chvnstn, IRO W. Va. 

510,377 S.E.2d 644 (1988). 

In the present case, the instructions given as a whole were accurate and fair to both 

pa rties, the proffered instruction at issue herein was not a correct statement of law, Petitioner was 

not limited in hi s closing argument and the jury was not foreclosed in deciding Petitioner's basic 

theory of the case. Therefore, no error exists. 

IV. Th e Trial Court Did ot Err By Precluding Cross-Examination of Dr. Clark , Vith 
Evidence of Prior Lawsuits . 

Petitioner next asserts crror because he was not pennitted to cross-examine Dr. Clark 

with her unrelated testimony from a prior lawsuit. This prior tcstimony related to the application 

of a different ACOG bulletin which addressed breech births, an issue not before the jury in thi s 

case. This testimony was irrelevant, overly prejudicial and would necessarily have informed the 
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jury of Dr. Clark's litigation history. It must be emphasized that Petitioner manufactured this 

purported controversy in an attempt to circumvent the Court's Pretrial Order. 

By way of background, Respondents timely moved, in limine and pursuant to W. Va. R. 

Evid. 401, 402, 403 and 404, to exclude any "evidence, testimony or reference at trial to any 

prior lawsuits involving Dr. Clark." JA-4196-42 I I. Petitioner both opposed this motion as well 

as filed a Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence. JA-4445. Therein. Petitioner noticed his 

intent to use evidence from Terri Lea alld B,yson Sheppard v. Carolyn E. Clark, M.D., and 

Cabell HUlllington Hospital, Inc., Civil Action No. 09-C-0533. 

These issues were fully briefed, the parties were presented with the opportunity to be 

heard, and the trial court held the necessary 404(b) in-camera hearing. Based upon the evidence 

presented and the arguments of counsel, the trial court granted Respondent's Motion in Limi1le. 

JA-4687-98. In so doing, the Court concluded "that Plaintiff has fa il ed to adequately establish 

the relevance of this evidence in this particular ease and how the probative value of the evidence 

would outweigh its prejudicial effect." JA-469l 

At trial , Dr. Clark took the stand to defend against Petitioner's allegations but never 

uttcred a single word about ACOG during direct examination. JA-6787-6832. Dr. Clark further 

made no mention of ACOG during cross-examination related to the issue of this specific case. 

JA-6833-74. Petitioner then embarked upon a generali zed line of questioning upon Dr. Clark -

with hcr prior deposition testimony from Terri Lea alld B,yson Sheppard v. Carolyn E. Clark, 

M.D. in hand - waiting for a reason to circumvent the previous ruling of Court. Specifically: 

Q: [ACOO] actually developed a policy on when you would be allowed or 

when you should and should not be doing vaginal deliveries of breeched 

babies, right? 
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A: ThaI's right. 

Q: And you did not agree to their policy, did you? 

A: I don't agree with it, but I follow their policy. 

Q: You've indicated in prior sworn testimony that you don't feel bound by 

the standards that they set, correct? 

IA-687S-76. 

Petitioner created and interjected this purported dispute into the trial. At thi s point in the 

proceeding, Petitioner had already elicited testimony through his own expert that the 30-minute 

ACOG rule has no application to these facts. Petitioner had also established through the eross-

examination of Dr. Manning that the 30-minute ACOG standard would not pennit an obstetrician 

to needlessly delay a delivery. There was no evidence in th is case that Dr. Clark di sregarded a 

relevant ACOG rule because she, in fact, delivered this baby within 30 minutes. There was not 

one single issue dealing with breech births or the application of ACOG bulletins speci fic to 

breech births at issue in this case. However, and despi te the fact that Dr. Clark never mentioned 

ACOG until asked to do so during cross-examination, Petitioner attempted to interject a prior 

lawsu it into this trial in direct violation of the Court's Pretrial Order. This evidence was properly 

excluded under W. Va. R. Evid. 401, 402, 403 and 404 and Petitioner should not profi t from a 

controversy which his counsel manufactured. 

V. The Trial Court Properly Allowed Dr. Manning to Discuss the ACOG " Thirty
M inute Rule." 

Petitioner next claims trial by ambush because Dr. Manning discussed ACOG during his 

direct testimony. It must be emphasized here that the first mention of the ACOG standards 

actually arises from Petit ioner's operative Complaint filed at the incept ion of Ihis case, "[b]y 

5:35, feta l bradycardia was documented and the fetal heart rate readings were classifiable as a 
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Category 3 under the ACOG Fetal Heart Rate Monitoring protocol, which required immediate 

delivery by either operative vaginal delivery or caesarean section." JA·0019 (emphasis added). 

Moreover, the first testimonial evidence of the ACOG standard arose during Petit ioner's 

expert's discovery deposi tion. Thereafter, and in contradiction to Petitioner's assertion 

otherwise, Respondent's expert, Dr. Ma~ing, specifically mentioned the ACOG standard during 

his discovery deposition. Furthermore, the first evidence presented at trial of the ACOG 

standard arose during Petitioner's expert, Dr. Roberts, direct examination. To the extent the 

ACOG standard was mentioned during opening statements, Petitioner made no objection thereto 

but instead elicited the aforementioned testimony from his own expert. 

Lastly, Respondent's expert, Dr. Manning, readily admitted at trial that the ACOG 

standard would not permit an obstetrician to needlessly delay a delivery. This fact alone negates 

the entire premise of thi s argument. Petitioner did not even assert this error in his posHrial 

motions. Therefore, there was no error involved in the discussion of th is ACOG standard, which 

was embraced in Petitioner's own Complaint at the inception of thi s litigation, and there was no 

error in permitting this testimony at trial. 

VI. The T rial Cour t Properly Excluded Duplica tive Stand ard Of Care Testimony. 

Petitioner next assert s error for the trial court's order prohibiting Petitioner from offering 

duplicative, cumulative and untimely disclosed standard of care testimony. A brief recitation of 

the pertinent procedural hi story must be set forth herein to fully appreciate this issue. The initial 

scheduling order was agreed upon and entered on July 16,20 15. Therein, Petitioner's expert 

disclosure deadline was set for October 30, 2015 and Respondents' expert disclosure deadline 

was set for December 15,2015. On October 29, 2015, Petitioner timely disclosed Dr. Roberts, 
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as both a standard of care and causation expert. JA-3024. On December 15,2015, Respondents 

timely disclosed their one respective standard of care expen. JA-3076, 3167. 

Petitioner then periodically named additional and duplicative expert witnesses In 

violation of the scheduling order and without any request for leave. On February 8, 2016 and 

without leave of Court, Petitioner untimely disclosed a second Maternal Fetal Medicine expert, 

Dr. Angela Bianco, to provide cumulative testimony as to both standard of care and causation. 

This disclosure was three months past the disclosure deadline and disclosed opinions with regard 

to Dr. Clark substantially the same as those previously disclosed in relation to Dr. Roberts. On 

May 27, 2016 and without leave of Court, Petitioner untimely disclosed a Placental Pathologist, 

Dr. David Schwartz, to provide pathological causation testimony. This disclosure was seven 

months past the disclosure deadline. On September 12, 2016 and without leave of Court, 

Petitioner untimely disclosed Jonathan Burroughs, M.D., to provide testimony related to hospital 

administration. This disclosure was ten months past the disclosure deadline. On October 28, 

2016 and without leave of Court, Plaintiff untimely disclosed Patricia L. Spier, R.N.C., a 

Nursing expert, to provide testimony related to the nursing standard of care. This disclosure was 

one year past the disclosure deadline. During thi s time, deposit ion practice remained ongoing 

but Petitioner managed to rectify any shortcomings in previous expert testimony through this 

tactic of continuous di sclosure of supplemental experts. 

Respondents were forced to bring these issues before the Court on December I, 2016. 

Upon the briefs presented in conjunction with the arguments of counsel, the Court ordered that 

Dr. Burroughs be struck and excluded as untimely. The Court further admonished against 

untimely. redundant and duplicative experts and requested that Petitioner [onnulate a plan on 

how to proceed at trial without the presentation of duplicative testimony. 
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Thereafter, Petitioner did not attempt to reduce Ihe cumulative expert testimony as 

requested by the Court but rather named his third standard of care and causation expert, Dr. 

Bruce Ratcliff, without leave of Court. This disclosure was fourteen months past the disclosure 

deadl ine and di sclosed opinions substantially similar to those previously di sclosed in relation to 

Dr. Roberts and Dr. Bianco. It should be noted that Petitioner possessed knowledge of Dr. 

Ratcliff's ant icipated testimony and memorialized the same in a handwritten note dated August 

27,2014 but did not di sclose Dr. Ratc1iff as an expert witness until December 14, 2016. 

For these reasons, Respo ndent moved to strike and exclude Dr. Bianco and Dr. Ratcliffas 

both untimely and cumulative. Respondent asserted that the disclosures were untimely and in 

violation of W. Va. R. Civ. P. 16, which "controls the course of litigation of a case unless 

modified by a subsequent order." State ex. reI, WeirtOIl Med. Ctr. v. Mazzone , 214 W. Va. 146,

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